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interior. A total of six major land-cession agreements were then pursued, which would yield
nearly 3,000,000 ha of lands for Euro-Canadian settlement (Surtees 1994:112). These agreements
were concerned with lands located well beyond the original waterfront settlements of
Upper Canada, and included the Lake Simcoe-Nottawasaga, Ajetance, Rice Lake, Rideau,
Long Woods and Huron Tract Purchases (Surtees 1994:113—119).

In October 1818, John Askin, Superintendent of Indian Affairs at Amherstburg, was sent to the
Thames River area between London and Chatham in order to arrange for the purchase of a large
tract of land to the north. Askin met with the chiefs of the Ojibway bands of the Chenal Ecart¢,
the St. Clair River, Bear Creek, the Sable River and the Thames River, and began negotiations
for lands on the Thames River and on Lake Huron just north of the Sable River, extending inland
as far as the Grand River Tract. The Ojibway leaders agreed to sell the land, and stipulated that
1) six reserves be set aside for them and that 2) a blacksmith and farm instructor be stationed
near the reserves (Surtees 1994:117).

Based on Askin’s report, the government decided to purchase the subject tract through two
agreements: the ‘Long Woods Purchase’ and the ‘Huron Tract Purchase’. The Long Woods area
interested the Crown the most, as it was immediately north of the Thames River and was the next
logical destination for Euro-Canadian settlers. Askin met with the Ojibway in 1819, and a
provisional agreement was created which involved the surrender of 210,000 ha in exchange for
an annuity of 600 pounds in currency and goods. The Huron Tract provisional agreement was
also negotiated that same year, in which over 1,000,000 ha were to be sold for an annuity of
1,375 pounds in currency and goods (Surtees 1994:117-118).

Neither agreement was executed, however, as objections over the nature of the cash payments led
to the revision of both proposals. The Long Woods Purchase was finally completed on
November 28, 1822, and almost 552,190 ha were exchanged for 600 pounds in currency
(NRC 2010). Specifically, a per capita payment of 2 pounds 10 shillings was agreed upon, to a
maximum of 240 persons (Surtees 1994:118). The Huron Tract Purchase took longer to settle,
and it was not pursued in earnest until John Galt’s Canada Company began to materialize. This
purchase was completed on July 10, 1827 for 1,375 pounds in currency (NRC 2010). Over the
ensuing years, these lands would become parts of Waterloo, Wellington, Huron, Lambton,
Middlesex and Oxford Counties.

The initial settlement of the Huron Tract was largely tied to the activities of the
Canada Company, which held its first meeting on July 30, 1824 in a tavern in London, England.
The Canada Company consisted primarily of British businessmen, such as John Galt and
Charles Bosanquet, who were brought together by a shared goal of increasing settlement and
prosperity in Upper Canada while turning a tidy profit at the same time (Coleman 1978:15). The
Canada Company was officially incorporated on August 19, 1826 by royal charter, and the
developers were granted significant powers and privileges by King George IV. Prominent among
these powers was the ability to purchase large tracts of Crown Land and Reserve Land, including
Clergy Reserves. The Company would eventually come to possess nearly 931,500 ha worth of
properties in Upper Canada, subsequently selling them to early settlers (Cumming 1972:5).
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Following the Crown’s acquisition of the Huron Tract in 1827, the Canada Company came to
own 19 of the first 21 townships established in the area. Specifically, Canada Company Lands
included the Townships of Biddulph, Blanshard, Colborne, Downie, Ellice, South Easthope,
North Easthope, Fullarton, Goderich, Hibbert, Hay, Hullett, Logan, McKillop, McGillivray,
Stephen, Stanley, Tuckersmith and Usborne (Smith 1846:85). The Crown retained ownership of
the Townships of Ashfield and Wawanosh, however, preferring to sell them independently
(Smith 1846:85). The rest of the Crown Lands in the northeast remained unincorporated
(see Map 17).

With these territories in hand, the Canada Company quickly began clearing and surveying
operations to facilitate sales and settlement. Galt, for example, was granted funds to build a road
connecting Guelph to Goderich. Tiger Dunlop was placed in charge of blazing the trail, while
John McDonald and Samuel Smith were appointed as the principal surveyors (Robinson 1999:3).
Roadwork began in June 1828 and was completed by November 1828, at which time the
Huron Road opened. Prospective settlers attracted by the Company’s advertisements and posters
were given a map with the new road, and the Huron Tract began to develop just as the
businessmen envisioned (Coleman 1978:33). Most of the settlers that arrived were English,
Scottish and Irish, although a few Germans came as well (Smith 1846:85). By 1844, the
Canada Company had successfully sold 5,241 ha of the Huron Tract (Coleman 1978:125).

Due to rising population levels, Huron County was created in the London District in 1835 to
better serve the administrative needs of local residents (Archives of Ontario 2009). The Crown
soon realized that the demand for land far exceeded the supply, and additional territories were
sought out north of the ‘Huron Tract’. The first and largest tract of land (the ‘Saugeen Tract’)
was acquired in a treaty concluded by Sir Francis Bond Head with members of the Saugeen,
Odawa and Chippewa First Nations on August 9, 1836. In addition to lands for settlement,
Head also sought "the physical, cultural, and institutional separation of Aboriginal and Euro-
Canadian populations" (Fitzgerald 2005:27). Forming parts of what would become Bruce, Grey,
Wellington and Huron Counties, this tract consisted of 607,500 ha of land, and the only payment
was a promise to assist and protect those who moved to the Bruce Peninsula (NRC 2010).

In 1837 and 1838, the layout of what would become southern Ontario was significantly altered
through the creation of the Huron, Brock, Wellington, Talbot and Simcoe Districts (Archives of
Ontario 2009). The vicinity of the study area became part of the Huron District at this time, but
the majority of the northern lands remained unsurveyed. The Huron District was enlarged in
1840 with the addition of the Townships of Ashfield and Wawanosh (see Map 18), and in
February 1841, it became part of Canada West in the new United Province of Canada. By 1845,
the population of the Huron District reached 13,500, and it contained 8 grist mills, 21 saw mills
and 39 schools (Smith 1846:85).

Following the abolition of the district system in 1849, the counties of Canada West were
reconfigured once again. The boundaries of Huron County were redefined, and Perth County was
created in the east (see Map 19). For the remainder of the Euro-Canadian era, Huron County
consisted of the Townships of Stephen, Usborne, Hay, Stanley, Tuckersmith, Goderich, Colborne,
Hullett, McKillop, Ashfield, Wawanosh, Morris, Grey, Turnberry and Howick (see Map 20).
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The population of Huron County subsequently grew at a rapid pace, and by 1871 it had
66,165 inhabitants (Belden & Co. 1879:v). This growth later waned, however, and a population
decline occurred between 1881 and 1941—Iikely a result of movement to other municipalities.
The 2011 census profile for Huron County shows a population of 59,100 (Statistics Canada
2013), indicating that Huron County still has not recovered fully from this historic decline.

1.2.3.3  Township of Hay

In historic times, the Township of Hay was bordered by the Township of Stanley to the north, the
Township of Stephen to the south, the Townships of Tuckersmith and Usborne to the east and
Lake Huron to the west. The earliest settlers in the township enjoyed a favourable environmental
setting, and the land was well-watered by Black Creek and numerous unnamed tributaries
draining into Lake Huron. According to W.H. Smith, “the soil is good, with the exception of the
land bordering on the lake” (1846:79).

The Township of Hay was named after Robert William Hay, the second undersecretary of state
for the colonies of the British government in 1825 (Lee 2004:230). This land was acquired by the
Crown in 1827 as part of the Huron Tract Purchase, and was subsequently sold to the
Canada Company to facilitate its settlement (Mack 1992:4). In 1835 and 1837, the Canada
Company’s principle surveyor John MacDonald divided the township into lots for settlement,
beginning with the four boundaries and finishing with the centre (McDonald 1835; 1837).

The Township of Hay was settled somewhat later than the surrounding townships, although a few
settlers did arrive as early as 1832 along the London Road. Most came in 1837 and 1838, and
when William Wilson arrived in 1839, the Walshes and the Bells already lived on the
Tuckersmith side of the London Road, and the Cases and a few others dwelled on the Hay side
(H. Belden & Co. 1879:xv). Other early residents of Hay included John Oesch, Peter Deichert,
Frederick Axt, Henry Wohlnich, Henry Greb and John Goetz (Zurich Ontario 2006). The first
settlers were mainly German, although those of English and Irish descent also come to the
Township of Hay. Once the preferred London Road locations were taken up, the settlers
established themselves along the numerous concession roads.

Overall, the rate of settlement was quite slow in the Township of Hay, and there were only 113
residents by 1846 (Smith 1846:79). The usual price for a 100 acre lot was 50 to 100 pounds, and
the Canada Company’s policy of one-fifth down upon purchase prevented settlers who lacked
funds from taking up land in this part of Huron County (SHC 1986:9). Once the Canada
Company realized that the 20% down system was hampering settlement, they introduced a new
lease arrangement in 1842, in which the settler would 1) pay no money down, 2) have ten years
to pay for his lot, 3) be responsible for 6% interest per year, and 4) be responsible for clearing
four acres of land per year (SHC 1986:12). This new lease system encouraged more rapid
settlement, by 1879 the population reached 4,119 (H. Belden & Co. 1879:xv).

In the early years, the only way for the settlers of Hay to obtain goods was to travel to Goderich,
located approximately 40 km to the north. Many settlers could not make this trip, and instead
sent money with ‘Jack Quick’, who drove a stage between London and Goderich, to make
purchases on their behalf. Jack frequently spent this money on ‘sprees’, but he would repay the
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funds with money “given him by others for a similar purpose” (H. Belden & Co. 1879:xv).
He met an untimely death falling from a wagon.

The most prominent historic communities in the Township of Hay included Zurich, Hensall,
Dashwood and Exeter. Aside from these larger centres, the township also contained numerous
small communities that developed around local post offices, including Drysdale, Blake, Hills
Green, Kippen, Johnson’s Mills, Brewster, Sarepta and Hay (see Map 21).

The most prominent historic community in the vicinity of the project location was Zurich, which
developed in the vicinity of Lot 21, Concession 11 in the central part of the township. This
settlement was first organized by a Swiss man named Frederick Knell, who obtained the property
in July 1856. Knell established a general store and a post office at Zurich, and later erected a
grist mill and a saw mill on the property known as the Mill Survey (Zurich Ontario 2006).
By 1879, many other businesses and shops had opened, including three general stores, one drug
store, one merchant tailor, three harness shops, three carriage shops, one tannery, one woolen
mill, one grist and flouring mill, one flax mill and two good hotels. The community had a
population of approximately 600 at that time (H. Belden & Co. 1879:xv).

1.2.3.4  Township of Stephen

In historic times, the Township of Stephen was bordered by the Township of Hay to the north, the
Townships of Usborne and Biddulph to the east, the Township of McGillivray to the south, and
the Township of Bosanquet to the west. The earliest settlers here also enjoyed a favourable
environmental setting, and the land was well-watered by the Ausable River. According to one
early historical source, “the land bordering on the lake, for about a mile in length, is sandy and
unfit for cultivation; but most of the rest of the township is good” (Smith 1846:176)

The Township of Stephen was named after James Stephen Jr., the Under-Secretary of State for
the English colonies in the Province of Canada (Mack 1992:6). Along with other townships to
then north, this land was acquired by the Crown in 1827 as part of the Huron Tract Purchase, and
was subsequently sold to the Canada Company to facilitate its settlement (Mack 1992:4). The
township was surveyed on multiple occasions: the London Road and the lots along Concession 1
were laid out in 1829, Concessions 2—3 were surveyed by John McDonald in 1830, lots along the
North Boundary, South Boundary, Lake Road and River Aux Sables were surveyed by
McDonald in 1835, Lots 621, South Boundary were surveyed by McDonald in 1836, and
Concessions 4-22 were surveyed by McDonald in 1837 (Mack 1992:10; McDonald 1835-1837).

In 1832, the McConnell brothers erected a tavern on the London Road at the request of the
Canada Company. The tavern is said to have been located in the northeastern part of the
township near the Ausable River, and it was likely the first structure in Stephen (Mack 1992:14).
The McConnells had won the contract to cut out the northern section of the London Road, and
likely received their properties, including Lots 23—25 on the Stephen side as well as several other
lots on the Usborne side, as partial payment for their work (Mack 1992:14). William McConnell
was a prominent early settler in the area, and he built a saw mill in 1833 and a grist mill in 1834
(Mack 1992:195-196).

October 2013 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd.
PIF #P007-535-2013



Stage 2 Property Assessment, Goshen Wind Energy Centre, Additional Lands and ROWs 19

In 1833, William McConnell was tasked with opening the London Road from Clinton in the
north to Elginfield in the south. When the road was originally cut, the stumps were left in place
so that the roots could decay, at which point the settlers who lived along the London Road were
employed to remove the stumps and fill the holes (Mack 1992:37). This thoroughfare helped
encourage settlement in the area and allowed settlers to make an easier passage to other villages
in Huron County. In 1842, James Stanlake was appointed Overseer of Roads, and he became
responsible for organizing and overseeing statute labour in the township. With little money in
circulation, statute labour, a system by which every settler worked for several days a year on
roads without pay, was the only way to open such long roadways in the area (Mack 1992:29).

The rate of settlement in the township was relatively slow in the early years, and the first
recorded land sales date to 1832, when Isaac Rattenbury bought Lot 25, Concession 2 and
Dennis O’Brien bought Lots 1-6, Concession 1 (Mack 1992:15). By 1842, there were only
17 families living in the township, and the population was 89 (Mack 1992:19). The first settlers
in this area were mainly of English and Irish descent, although there were a few Germans as well
(Mack 1992:24-25). By 1846, the population of the Township of Stephen reached 213
(Smith 1846:176). Settlement increased much more rapidly after 1850, and there were 740
inhabitants by 1852 (Mack 1992:20), 2,897 by 1861 (Mack 1992:105) and 3,843 by 1878
(H. Belden & Co. 1879:xvii).

The most prominent historic communities in the Township of Stephen included
Francistown/Exeter, Crediton, Centralia and Grand Bend/Port Franks. Aside from these larger
centres, the township also contained numerous smaller communities that developed around local
post offices, including Offa, Sarepta, Dashwood, Brewster, Harpley, Corbett, Greenway, Shipka
and Khiva (see Map 22).

Francistown developed in the northeastern corner of the township on Lots 23-25. As mentioned
above, the earliest structure was erected here by William McConnell in 1832. In 1858, a brick
hotel by the name of the Great Western Hotel (later Walper House) was built and run by Matthew
Rodgers (Mack 1992:195-196). By 1856, Francistown was a bustling community with two
gristmills, two saw mills, two stores, a blacksmith shop and the hotel (Mack 1992:196). Exeter,
on the other hand, developed on Lot 20 south of Francistown, which was first settled by
James Willis in 1832 (Mack 1992:197). This settlement grew primarily in the mid-19™ century,
when Isaac Carling and James ‘Boss’ Pickard came to the area. Carling arrived in 1847 and built
a house, a tannery, a store and a three-storey brick building, whereas Pickard arrived in 1852 and
erected several buildings, including his house, a three-storey store (the ‘Old Reliable House’), a
large warehouse and the first steam grist mill (Mack 1992:197-198). By 1856, Exeter boasted a
steam saw mill, a tannery, three shoemakers, three tailors, two painters, two cabinetmakers, one
cooper, one church and a post office (Mack 1992:198). In 1873, Francistown merged with Exeter
and became the independent Village of Exeter (Mack 1992:200).

Crediton, located on parts of Lot 10-11, Concessions 5-7, was named in 1861 when
John Parsons suggested it be named after Crediton, England because “it was six miles from
Exeter” (Mack 1992:215). The earliest settlers arrived here in the late 1840s and early 1850s, and
the population reached 200 in 1869 and 700 in 1880 (Mack 1992:217). By 1881, the town had
three large stores, a flour and feed store, three large shoe stores, one extensive harness shop, tow
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livery stables, two tailors, two hotels, one gents’ furnishing store, one wagon and carriage shop,
four blacksmith shops, one grist mill, one saw mill, one large flax mill, one large woolen mill,
five brickyards, one furniture making factory & planing mill, and many other businesses.
Crediton was the busiest community in the Township of Stephen in the late 1800s.

1.2.3.5  Township of Usborne

In historic times, the Township of Usborne was bordered by the Townships of Tuckersmith and
Hibbert to the north, the Townships of Fullarton and Blanshard to the east, the Township of
Biddulph to the south, and the Townships of Hay and Stephen to the west. The land in Usborne
was well-watered by the Ausable River and the Little Ausable River, and according to
W.H. Smith, “the greater part of the township is good land” (1846:199).

The Township of Usborne was named after Henry Usborne, one of the first Directors of the
Canada Company. Along with Hay and Stephen, Usborne was acquired by the Crown in 1827 as
part of the Huron Tract Purchase, and was subsequently sold to the Canada Company to facilitate
its settlement (Mack 1992:4). The township was surveyed on multiple occasions: the
London Road and the lots along Concession 1 were laid out in 1829, Concessions 2—3 were
surveyed by John McDonald in 1830, and the rest of the lots north and south of the Thames Road
were surveyed in 1838 (Dougall 1996:1).

As mentioned above, the McConnell brothers erected a tavern on the London Road in 1832, and
it was likely the first structure in the vicinity of the western part of the Township of Usborne. The
McConnells had won the contract to cut out the northern section of the London Road, and
received properties on both the Stephen (Lots 23-25) and Usborne (Lots 17-20) sides as partial
payment for their work (Mack 1992:14). The establishment of the London Road encouraged
settlement and allowed for settlers to make easy passage to other villages in Huron County.

The rate of settlement in the township was relatively slow in the early years. The first
documented settler was either William May or Thomas Lamb—May settled south of Exeter on
the London Road on June 21, 1832, whereas Mr. Lamb settled north of Exeter at approximately
the same time (H. Belden & Co. 1879:xx). By 1846, the population of the Township of Usborne
was only 283. There were 295 ha under cultivation at that time, and one grist mill and one saw
mill were in operation (Smith 1846:199). By 1850, however, the population had increased to
1,500, and by 1860, it had reached approximately 4,000 (Dougall 1996:1). In 1878, following the
incorporation of Exeter in 1873, the population was 2,616 (H. Belden & Co. 1879:xx).

The most prominent historic communities in the Township of Usborne included
Francistown/Exeter and Elimville. Aside from these larger centres, the township also contained
numerous small communities that developed around local post offices, including Rodgerville,
Lumley, Farquhar, Winchelsea, Woodham and Kirkton (see Map 23). Francistown/Exeter are
discussed in Section 1.2.3.4.

Elimville developed on Lot 10, Concession 6—7 in the central part of the township along the
Little Ausable River. Elmville was considered the ‘municipal capital’ of Usborne, and by 1879 it
contained a hotel, two stores, several mechanics shops, two churches, a town hall and a post
office. It had a population of approximately 100 at that time (H. Belden & Co. 1879:xxi).
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1.2.3.6  The Study Area

As discussed in Section 1.1, the study area for this assessment comprises 73 parcels falling
within or adjacent to multiple lots and concessions in the Geographic Townships of Hay, Stephen
and Usborne ((see Table 1). The lots in these townships were laid out ca. 1830, and the vicinity
of the study area was relatively well-settled for the remainder of the Euro-Canadian era.

In an attempt to reconstruct the historic land use of the study area, ARA examined three
historical maps that documented past residents, structures (e.g., homes, businesses and public
buildings) and features during the late 19" century. These maps, published in H. Belden & Co.’s
lllustrated Historical Atlas of the County of Huron, Ontario (1879), were of the most detailed
scale available (50 chains to 1 inch for the Township of Hay, 60 chains to 1 inch for the
Townships of Stephen and Usborne). Georeferenced views of these historical maps, showing the
73 parcels, appear in Map 24-Map 28 (McGill University 2001).

H. Belden & Co.’s lllustrated Historical Atlas (1879) indicates that nearly all of the subject lots
were settled by the late 19* century, and numerous Euro-Canadian owners are depicted on the
township maps. These maps also provide useful information concerning historically-surveyed
roadways, public buildings and prominent natural features in the area. The Euro-Canadian
residents within or adjacent to the subject parcels are summarized in Table 2.

Table 2: Euro-Canadian Residents within or adjacent to the Subject Parcels, according

to H. Belden & Co.’s Illustrated Historical Atlas of the County of Huron, Ontario (1879)
(McGill University 2001)

Parcel Lot Concession Township Property Owner(s)
GSH1006 10 9 Hay Goderich Mfg. Co.
GSH1007 15 10 Hay C. Wagner
GSH1012 15 NB Stephen J. Ford
GSH1013 21 9 Stephen S. Brockenshire
GSH1020 13 RAS Stephen Canada Company

GSH1022/2176 12 22, RAS Stephen M. Elliot, Canada Company

GSH1023 14 22 Stephen A. Smith

GSH1033 5 15 Stephen Canada Company

GSH1034 3 12 Hay I. Bean

GSH1035 6 16 Stephen A. McEachen, Canada Company

GSH1038 11 12 Hay E. Restemeyer

GSH1039 11 13 Hay D.B. Geiger

GSH1040 7 12 Hay J. Eckstein

GSH1043 15 9 Hay S. Cober

GSH1048 8 14 Hay C. Muller

GSH1049 6 12 Hay J. Weber

GSH1056 13 13 Hay J. Rhuby

GSH1061 12 12 Stephen J. Hooper

GSH1062 5-6 13 Stephen H. Doyle, O. Johnson
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Parcel Lot Concession Township Property Owner(s)
GSH1067 4 12 Stephen J. Reardon
GSH1068 19, 16 RAS Stephen Canada Company
GSH1072 6 11 Stephen A. O’Leary

GSH1077 (East, Centre) 10-11 14 Stephen V.J. & J. Ratz, D. Collins
GSH1077 (West)/1766 (North) 9-10 14 Stephen Canada Company, V.J. & J. Ratz
GSH1095 43 SB Stephen J.T. Wason
GSH1118 10 11 Hay J. Ragier
GSH1360 12 10 Hay J. Gingrich, P. Kaylor
GSH1390 12 9 Hay J. Coxworth
GSH1461 14 SB Hay T. Peach
GSH1481 8 7 Stephen S. Naylor
GSH1493 13 7 Stephen G. Brown
GSH1498/1659 14 16-17 Stephen E. Schnarr, J. McCormick, D. Lynch
GSH1505/2252/1504 15-16 15 Stephen T. Lamport, B. McCarty
GSH1507 9 16 Stephen/Usborne T. Murray
GSH1509 8 16 Stephen M. Keough
GSH1526 9 20 Stephen W. Hickey
GSH1528 7 20 Stephen J. Ford
GSH1605 10 19-20 Stephen A. Thompson, J.W. Watson
GSH1617 11 18 Stephen Canada Company
GSH1744/1765 11-12 14-15 Stephen R. MCEaﬁ‘f&;ﬁ‘;‘,‘%?&lﬁfnniS’ H.

GSH1757 18 14 Stephen C. Willett
GSH1758 17 14 Stephen Canada Company

GSH1766 (South) 14 Stephen Canada Company
GSH1780 14 Stephen Canada Company
GSH1949 15 Stephen Canada Company
GSH2028 4 9 Stephen N. Clark
GSH2043 17 8 Stephen M. Swartz
GSH2046 14 8 Stephen J. Finkbiner
GSH2053 10 8 Stephen J. Hill
GSH2056 8 8 Stephen R. Flynn
GSH2099 13 NB Stephen T. Wilrtz
GSH2108 20 9 Stephen J & S. Brockenshire
GSH2133 15 10 Stephen J. Smith
GSH2158 9 9 Stephen W. Banes
GSH2236 16 16 Stephen Canada Company
GSH2237 18 16 Stephen Canada Company
GSH2238 19 16 Stephen Canada Company
GSH2255 10 7 Stephen W. Sweet
GSH2381 6 4 Usborne P. Beaham

GSH2411/2717/2956 12-13 5-6 Stephen J. Kuhn, J. Fahner, R.D. Young
GSH2555 8 1-2 Usborne T. May, Mrs. P. Sweet
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Parcel Lot Concession Township Property Owner(s)
GSH2767 5 10 Usborne J. Simpson
GSH2838 6 9 Usborne A. Rowcliffe
GSH3065 9 12 Usborne W. Marshall, W. Webb
GSH3068 6 11 Usborne R. Fletcher, F. Burns
Grand Bend Line from GSH1528 to .
GSH1016 67 20 Stephen D. Ransom, M. McLinchy
Babylon Line from GSH2058 to 48 9 Stephen N. Clark, J. & R. Hodgins, W. Lawson,
GSH2030 ephe J. Lawson, G. Lawson, J. Brown
Blackbush Line from GSH1758 to
GSH2252 17 14 Stephen Canada Company
Mollard Line from GSH1559 to
GSH1099 15-16 RAS Stephen Canada Company
Bronson Line at GSH1077 11 13 Stephen D. Collins
Huron Street at GSH1013 21 9 Stephen S. Brockenshire

1.2.4  Summary of Past and Present Land Use

During Pre-Contact and Early Contact times, the vicinity of the study area would have comprised
a mixture of coniferous trees, deciduous trees and open areas. It seems clear that the
First Nations managed the landscape to some degree, but the extent of such management is
unknown. During the early 19" century, Euro-Canadian settlers arrived in the area and began to
clear the forests for agricultural purposes. Over the course of the Euro-Canadian era, this locality
would have comprised primarily agricultural lands and historically-surveyed road allowances in
the Townships of Hay, Stephen and Usborne. Presently, the project location consists of
agricultural lands, hedgerows, woodlots and parts of several municipal road ROWs and private
laneways. The subject parcels comprise parts of numerous municipal road ROWs (i.e., Kirkton
Road, Crediton Road, Pepper Road, Rodgerville Road, Dashwood Road, Huron Street, Mollard
Line, South Road, Bronson Line, Babylon Line, Blackbush Line, MacDonald Road, Greenway
Drive, Eagleson Line, Goshen Line, Parr Line, Shipka Line, Grand Bend Line and Victoria
Avenue West), private laneways and agricultural fields.

1.2.5  Additional Background Information

In the course of the previous archaeological assessments conducted for the project, additional
research concerning the settlement history and land use of the study area was carried out. In
accordance with the requirements set out in Section 7.5.7 of the Standards and Guidelines for
Consultant Archaeologists (MTC 2011:125), the title, author and PIF number(s) of the related
works appear below:

o Title: Stage 1 Archaeological Assessment, NextEra Energy Canada, ULC, Goshen Wind
Energy Centre, Various Lots and Concessions, Geographic Townships of Hay, Stephen
and Usborne, now Municipalities of Bluewater and South Huron, Huron County, Ontario.
Author: Golder Associates Ltd. PIFs #P001-608-2010 and #P218-278-2011
(Golder 2012a).
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o Title: Additional Stage 2 Archaeological Assessment, NextEra Energy Canada, ULC,
Goshen Wind Energy Centre, Huron County, Ontario. Author: Golder Associates Ltd.
PIF #P366-017-2012 (Golder 2012b).

o Title: Stage 2 Archaeological Assessment, NextEra Energy Canada, ULC, Goshen Wind
Energy Centre, Various Lots and Concessions, Geographic Townships of Hay, Stephen
and Usborne, now Municipalities of Bluewater and South Huron, Huron County, Ontario.
Author: Golder Associates Ltd. PIF #P218-038-2011 (Golder 2013).

o Title: Stage 3 Site-Specific Assessment, Location 33 (AhHk-145), Goshen Wind Energy
Centre, FIT-FETX82X, Part of Lot 12, River Aux Sables, Municipality of South Huron,
Geographic Township of Stephen, Huron County, Ontario. Author: Archaeological
Research Associates Ltd. PIF #P007-510-2013 (ARA 2013c).

o Title: Stage 3 Site-Specific Assessment, Location 47 (AhHj-17), Goshen Wind Energy
Centre, FIT-FETX82X, Part of Lot 14, Concession 7, Municipality of South Huron,
Geographic Township of Stephen, Huron County, Ontario. Author: Archaeological
Research Associates Ltd. PIF #P007-515-2013 (ARA 2013d).

o Title: Stage 3 Site-Specific Assessment, Location 62 (AhHi-7), Goshen Wind Energy
Centre, FIT-FETX82X, Part of Lot 7, Concession 1, Municipality of South Huron,
Geographic Township of Usborne, Huron County, Ontario. Author: Archaeological
Research Associates Ltd. PIF #P007-518-2013 (ARA 2013e).

o Title: Stage 4 Mitigation of Development Impacts, Location 62 (AhHi-7), Goshen Wind
Energy Centre, FIT-FETX82X, Part of Lot 7, Concession 1, Municipality of South Huron,
Geographic Township of Usborne, Huron County, Ontario. Author: Archaeological
Research Associates Ltd. PIF #P089-0037-2013 (ARA 2013f).

The additional information included in these reports was considered during the formulation of
fieldwork strategies and recommendations pertaining to archaeological concerns within the study
area (see Section 2.0).

1.3 Archaeological Context
1.3.1  Previous Archaeological Work

The project location for the Goshen Wind Energy Centre has been subjected to multiple
archaeological assessments. A Stage 1 assessment was completed by Golder in June 2012 under
licences #P001 and #P218, PIFs #P001-608-2009 and #P218-278-2011 (Golder 2012a). This
assessment encompassed an irregularly-shaped 35,260 ha block of lands located on various lots
and concessions in the Geographic Townships of Hay, Stephen and Usborne, now Municipalities
of Bluewater and South Huron, Huron County, Ontario (Golder 2012a:1).

Based on the presence of multiple features of archaeological potential, including 18 previously-
identified archaeological sites, proximity to primary and secondary water sources, level
topography, agriculturally suitable soils, documented early settlement and historic transportation
routes, Golder determined that the majority of the study area had potential for both Pre-Contact
and Euro-Canadian archaeological sites (Golder 2012a:43-45). This study determined that
Stage 2 assessment would be required “for any areas to be impacted by turbine construction,
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access road construction, or other infrastructure construction related activities”
(Golder 2012a:46).

A Stage 2 assessment of the project location was carried out by Golder between May 2011 and
September 2012 under licence #P218, PIF #P218-038-2011 (Golder 2013). Golder also carried
out a Stage 2 assessment of additional lands between November and December 2012 under
licence #P366, PIF #P366-017-2013 (Golder 2012b).

A total of 63 archaeological sites (Locations 1-63) were identified during the Stage 2
assessments, comprising 38 Pre-Contact sites, 20 Euro-Canadian sites and 5 multi-component
sites. Thirty-three of these sites were found to be of further CHVI and were recommended for
Stage 3 site-specific assessment (Golder 2013:Table 145). ARA, Stantec and AECOM
subsequently conducted Stage 3 site-specific assessments and Stage 4 mitigations of
development impacts at those sites within the project location that could not be avoided through
project redesign (e.g., ARA 2013¢-2013f).

1.3.2  Summary of Registered Archaeological Sites

An archival search was conducted using the MTCS’s Ontario Archaeological Sites Database in
order to determine the presence of any registered archaeological resources which might be
located within a 1 km radius of the project location (MTCS 2013a). The results of this search,
coupled with the results of past assessments carried out for the project (see Section 1.3.1),
indicate that there are 83 registered or known archaeological sites within these limits. The
excavation results from these sites are summarized in Table 3.

Table 3: Registered or Known Sites within 1 km of the Project Location

Site Name | Borden No. Year(s) Cultural Affiliation Site Type Comments
Assessed
Multi component, Euro- . .
Dawsey . . .. Homestead and 172 Euro-Canadian artifacts,
Homestead L Ly (Cormprtein g Lile Campsite? 11 lithic artifacts

Archaic

Isolated find of chipping detritus
Location 1 N/A 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot of Kettle Point chert; no further
work recommended

Isolated find of chipping detritus
Location 2 N/A 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot of Kettle Point chert; no further
work recommended

5 lithic artifacts identified; no

Location 3 AhHk-146 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot further work recommended

Isolated find of an end scraper of
Location 4 N/A 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot Kettle Point chert; no further work
recommended

Artifacts scattered over a 80 x

100 m area, 32 of which were

collected for analysis; Stage 3
recommended

Location 5 AhHk-139 2012 Paleo-Indian Undetermined

Isolated find of a utilized flake of
Location 6 N/A 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot Kettle Point chert; no further work
recommended

Artifacts scattered over a 21 x
Scatter 50 m area, 16 collected for
analysis; Stage 3 recommended.

Mid-late 19 century Euro-

Location 7 AhHk-140 2012 .
Canadian

October 2013 Archaeological Research Associates Ltd.
PIF #P007-535-2013




Stage 2 Property Assessment, Goshen Wind Energy Centre, Additional Lands and ROWs 26

Site Name

Borden No.

Year(s)
Assessed

Cultural Affiliation

Site Type

Comments

Location 8 N/A

2012

Undetermined Pre-Contact

Findspot

Isolated find of chipping detritus
of Kettle Point chert; no further
work recommended

Location 9 N/A

2012

Undetermined Pre-Contact

Scatter

A 1 x 25 m scatter of two lithic
artifacts; no further work
recommended

Location 10 N/A

2012

Undetermined Pre-Contact

Findspot

Isolated find of chipping detritus
of Kettle Point chert; no further
work recommended

Location 11 AhHj-4

2012

Mid-late 19™ century Euro-
Canadian

Findspot

Scatter of approximately 30
artifacts over a 24 x 60 m area;
Stage 3 recommended

Location 12 N/A

2012

Undetermined Pre-Contact

Scatter

Two lithic artifacts; no further
work recommended

Location 13 AiHj-10

2012

Undetermined Pre-Contact

Scatter

Scatter of chipping detritus and
fire cracked rock in a 20 x 60 m
area; Stage 3 recommended

Location 14 N/A

2012

Undetermined Pre-Contact

Scatter

A 3 x 2 m scatter of 2 lithic
artifacts; no further work
recommended

Location 15 AiHj-17

2012

Early Archaic

Findspot

Isolated find of a Kirk/Nettling
corner-notched projectile point;
Stage 3 recommended

Location 16 AhHj-5

2012

Mid-late 19™ century Euro-
Canadian

Scatter

Scatter of approximately 60
fragments in a 30 x 40 m area;
Stage 3 recommended

Location 17 N/A

2012

Undetermined Pre-Contact

Findspot

Isolated find of a biface of Dundee
chert; no further work
recommended

Location 18 AiHj-11

2012

Early Archaic

Findspot

Single find of an Early Archaic
Kirk/Nettling corner-notched
projectile point; Stage 3
recommended

Location 19 AiHj-12

2012

Undetermined Pre-Contact

Findspot

Three pieces of chipping detritus
and a broken projectile point;
Stage 3 recommended

Location 20 AhHk-141

2012

Middle Archaic

Findspot

Single Brewerton side-notched
projectile point identified, tip
missing; no further work
recommended

Location 21 AhHk-142

2012

19" century Euro-Canadian

Scatter

Scatter of approximately 50
artifacts; Stage 3 recommended

Location 22 AhHj-6

2012

Undetermined Pre-Contact

Findspot

Single projectile point base; no
further work recommended

Location 23 AiHj-13

2012

Undetermined Pre-Contact

Findspot

Isolated broken projectile point; no
further work recommended

Location 24 AhHj-7

2012

Middle Archaic

Findspot

Brewerton side notched projectile
point and two additional lithic
tools; Stage 3 recommended

Location 25 N/A

2012

Undetermined Pre-Contact

Scatter

2 lithic artifacts; no further work
recommended

Location 26 AiHj-14

2012

Undetermined Pre-Contact

Findspot

Small scatter of nine lithic
artifacts; no further work
recommended

Location 27 AhHj-8

2012

Early Archaic

Findspot

Bifurcate base projectile point;
Stage 3 recommended

Location 28 AhHk-143

2012

19" century Euro-Canadian

Scatter

Scatter of approximately 60
artifacts in a 23 x 36 m area; Stage
3 recommended
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Site Name | Borden No. e Cultural Affiliation Site Type Comments
Assessed
Location 29 N/A 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Scatter 3 Wi ilinls; o fbiilher vorks
recommended
Location 30 N/A 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Scatter 4 lis avlingls; mo fntier ot
recommended
Single Brewerton side-notched
Location 31 AhHk-144 2012 Middle Archaic Findspot projectile point identified; no
further work recommended
Isolated find of a biface of Kettle
Location 32 N/A 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot Point chert; no further work
recommended
Scatter of approximately
Location 33 | AhHk-145 2012 19" century Euro-Canadian Scatter 100 artifacts in a 25 x 50 m area;
Stage 3 recommended
. - th ) . Scatter of approximately 70
Location 34 AhHj-10 2012 19" century Euro-Canadian Scatter artifacts; Stage 3 recommended
. . . Meadowood Projectile point; no
Location 35 AhHj-9 2012 Early Woodland Findspot further work recommended
Scatter of over 200 artifacts in a
Location 36 | AhHk-147 2012 19th century Euro-Canadian Scatter 90 x 80 m area; Stage 3
recommended
Location 37 AhHj-11 2012 19th century Euro-Canadian Scatter Sigziiiar oif over S el
Stage 3 recommended
Scatter of over 300 Euro-Canadian
19" century Euro-Canadian, artifacts and a small amount of
Location 38 | AhHk-148 2012 small Pre-Contact Scatter Pre-Contact Aboriginal lithics in a
Aboriginal component 85 x 95 m area; Stage 3
recommended
19" century Euro-Canadian, e
Location 39 AhHj-12 2012 small Pre-Contact Scatter Scatter of over 600 artifacts;
- Stage 3 recommended
Aboriginal component
Isolated find of a biface of Kettle
Location 40 N/A 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot Point chert; no further work
recommended
Isolated find of chipping detritus
Location 41 N/A 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot of Kettle Point chert; no further
work recommended
Isolated find of a partial ground
Location 42 N/A 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot stone celt; no further work
recommended
19" century Euro-Canadian, .
Location 43 AhHj-13 2012 small Pre-Contact Scatter Dlscrete closisr@t@rer LY
. artifacts; Stage 3 recommended
Aboriginal component
. . th . Discrete cluster of approximately
Location 44 AhHj-14 2012 19" century Euro-Canadian Scatter S0 i S 3 memisided
. . th . Discrete cluster of approximately
Location 45 AhHj-15 2012 19" century Euro-Canadian Scatter 0 i, S e 3 meengidlad
. . th . Discrete cluster of approximately
Location 46 AhHj-16 2012 19" century Euro-Canadian Scatter 20/artifacts, Stage 3 recommendad
Location 47 AhHj-17 2012 19" century Euro-Canadian Scatter sterfiizeaitone? L0 i
Stage 3 recommended
19" century Euro-Canadian, .
Location 48 AhHj-18 2012 small Pre-Contact Scatter R s S
i Stage 3 recommended
Aboriginal component
. . th . scatter of approximately 250
Location 49 AhHj-19 2012 19" century Euro-Canadian Scatter e G o ended
. 3 th . Cluster of approximately 250
Location 50 AhHj-20 2012 19" century Euro Canadian Scatter artifacts. Stage 3 recommended
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Site Name | Borden No. Iszzzsz)d Cultural Affiliation Site Type Comments
1 Brewerton projectile point and 6
Location 51 AhHj-21 2012 Middle Archaic Findspot additional lithics; Stage 3
recommended
1 Brewerton projectile point and 3
Location 52 AhHj-22 2012 Middle Archaic Findspot additional lithics; no further work
recommended
Isolated blank fragment of Kettle
Location 53 N/A 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot point chert; no further work
recommended
1 Kirk/Nettling corner notched
Location 54 AhHj-23 2012 Early Archaic Findspot projectile point; Stage 3
recommended
Isolated find of a Small Point Late
Location 55 AiHj-18 2012 Late Archaic Findspot Archaic Innes projectile point; no
further work recommended
Location 56 AhHj-24 2012 19" century Euro-Canadian Scatter S.catter Gty
artifacts; Stage 3 recommended
. . th . Scatter of approximately 125
Location 57 AhHj-25 2012 19" century Euro-Canadian Scatter s, S 3 s
Isolated find of chipping detritus
Location 58 N/A 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot of Kettle Point chert; no further
work recommended
A 15 x 15 m scatter of 16 Euro-
Location 59 N/A 2012 Euro-Canadian Scatter Canadian artifacts; no further work
recommended
Scatter of over 100 artifacts in a
Location 60 AhHi-5 2012 19" century Euro-Canadian Scatter 25 x 35 m area; Stage 3
recommended
Location 61 AhHi-6 2012 19" century Euro-Canadian Scatter et aif aver LD et 10 3
25; Stage 3 recommended
197 century Euro-Canadian, Scatter of over 200 artifacts in a
Location 62 AhHi-7 2012 small Pre-Contact Scatter 40 x 40 m area; Stage 3
Aboriginal component recommended
Isolated find of a biface
. . . manufactured of Kettle Point
Location 63 N/A 2012 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot Y o n—
recommended
th th
Location 64 N/A 2013 Late 19720 c§ntury Euro- Scatter A28x 16 m §catter.of 17 Euro-
Canadian Canadian artifacts
Location 65 N/A 2013 Euro-Canadian Scatter Lt L il
progress
N/A AiHj-3 1985 Undetermined Pre-Contact 2 Findspots 1 graver, 1 core
N/A AhHj-3 1987 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot 1 biface
N/A AiHj-2 1987 Undetermined Pre-Contact Findspot 2t Chlfg;‘tg TG i
N/A AiHi-1 1990 Undetermined Pre-Contact Lithic Scatter diffuse scatter of lithics, 4 loci
10 artifacts per square, lithics,
N/A AiHi-2 1990 Late Archaic Campsite? including 4 points and 1 bone
fragment
N/A AiHi-3 1990 Undetermined Pre-Contact Undetermined 6 artifacts
N/A AiHi-4 1990 Undetermined Pre-Contact Undetermined 11 lithics
Euro-Canadian and Pre- 2 Euro-Canadian artifacts and
S AlgLeR) 2003 Contact Aboriginal Scatter 1 Pre-Contact Aboriginal artifact
Multi component, Euro- Undetermined 42 Euro-Canadian artifacts,
e AllALELEY A Canadian and Late Archaic and campsite 2,072 Pre-Contact artifacts
N/A AhHk-101 2004 safiakily noodlkng g [Las Campsite 1,184 artifacts
Woodland
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Site Name | Borden No. ) Cultural Affiliation Site Type Comments
Assessed
N/A AhHk-102 2004 Early Archaic and Campsite 573 artifacts
Woodland
N/A AhHk-103 2004 Late Woodland Campsite 1231 artifacts
N/A AhHk-104 2004 IO AR TS Campsite 1122 artifacts
Archaic
N/A AhHk-105 2004 Late Archaic Lithic Scatter 919 artifacts
N/A AhHk-109 2004 Late Woodland camp 260 artifacts
N/A AhHK-111 2004 Early Woodland and Undetermined 239 artifacts
Middle Woodland
Sarepta L . .
Tavern/Post AiHj-4 1992 Euro-Canadian HlS'[OI‘lC. LargF: quantities of Euro-Canadian
Office Commercial artifacts, hand-pump waterwell

Dozens of these previously-identified sites are located within 1 km of the specific parcels
assessed for this report. These sites are summarized in Table 4. The abundance of registered sites

in the vicinity of the

study area demonstrates the desirability of this locality for early settlement

and resource exploitation.

Table 4: Re

sistered Archaeological Sites within 1 km of the Subject Parcels

Parcel Sites within 1 km
GSH1006 Location 8, Location 9
GSH1007 Location 15 (AhHj-7), Location 26 (AiHj-14)
GSH1012 None
GSH1013 Location 10, Location 11 (AhHj-4), Location 12, Location 25, Location 37 (AhHj-11)
GSH1020 Location 3, Location 4, Location 5 (Ath-1.39), Location 28 (AHHk-143), Location 33
(AhHk-145), Location 38 (AhHk-148)
GSH1022/2176 Location 2, Location 3, Location 4, I.docation 5 (AhHk-139), Location 28 (AhHk-143),
Location 33 (AhHk-145)
GSH1023 Location 1, Location 2, Location 3, Location 4, Location 5 (AhHk-139)
GSH1033 Location 49 (AhHj-19)
GSH1034 None
GSH1035 Location 49 (AhHj-19)
GSH1038 None
GSH1039 Location 55 (AhHj-18)
GSH1040 Location 17, Location 18 (AhHj-11), Location 19 (AhHj-12), Location 41, Location 59
GSH1043 Location 15 (AhHj-7)
GSH1048 None
GSH1049 Location 41, Location 59
GSH1056 Location 13 (AhHj-10), Location 14
GSH1061 Location 50 (AhHj-20), Location 51 (AhHj-21), Location 52 (AhHj-22), Location 53
GSH1062 Location 30, Location 46 (AhHj-16)
GSH1067 Location 16 (AhHj-5), Location 30
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Parcel Sites within 1 km
GSH1068 Location 20 (AhHk-141), Location 21 (AhHk-142), Location 28 (AhHk-143), Location 38
(AhHk-148)
GSH1072 Location 6, Location 16 (AhHj-5)

GSH1077 (East, Centre)

Location 34 (AhHj-10), Location 44 (AhHj-14), Location 45 (AhHj-15), Location 51 (AhHj-21),

Location 52 (AhHj-22), Location 53

GSH1077 (West)/

Location 34 (AhHj-10), Location 44 (AhHj-14), Location 45 (AhHj-15)

1766 (North)
GSH1095 Location 21 (AhHk-142)
GSHI1118 None
GSH1360 Location 26 (AhHj-14)
GSH1390 None
GSH1461 None
GSH1481 Location 27 (AhHj-8)
GSH1493 Location 42, Location 43 (AhHj-13)
GSH1498/1659 Location 7 (AhHk-140), Location 32

GSH1505/2252/1504 Location 54 (AhHj-23), Location 56 (AhHj-24)
GSH1507 None
GSH1509 None
GSH1526 None
GSH1528 None
GSH1605 Location 36 (AhHk-147)
GSH1617 Location 36 (AhHk-147)

GSH1744/1765 Location 34 (AhHj-10), Location 44 (AhHj-14), Location 45 (AhHj-15)
GSH1757 Location 63
GSH1758 Location 54 (AhHj-23), Location 56 (AhHj-24)
GSH1766 (South) Location 34 (AhHj-10), Location 44 (AhHj-14), Location 45 (AhHj-15)
GSH1780 Location 30, Location 46 (AhHj-16)
GSH1949 Location 45 (AhHj-15)
GSH2028 Location 48 (AhHj-18)
GSH2043 Location 10, Location 11 (AhHj-4), Location 42
GSH2046 None
GSH2053 Location 35 (AhHj-9), Location 42, Location 57 (AhHj-25)
GSH2056 Location 35 (AhHj-9), Location 57 (AhHj-25)
GSH2099 None
GSH2108 Location 12, Location 25, Location 37 (AhHj-11)
GSH2133 None
GSH2158 Location 35 (AhHj-9), Location 57 (AhHj-25)
GSH2236 Location 32, Location 54 (AhHj-23), Location 56 (AhHj-24)
GSH2237 Location 31 (AhHk-144)
GSH2238 Location 31 (AhHk-144)
GSH2255 Location 27 (AhHj-8), Location 42
GSH2381 None
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